
 
 

SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

4.00 pm TUESDAY, 21ST JUNE, 2022 
REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this meeting and a separate invitation will 

be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being filmed 
and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined above. 

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 

member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 
725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 

found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 
 

 
AGENDA 

 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

Work Programme 

3. Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23   

 Have we got the right issues in the right way at the 
right time and place? 
 

5 - 16 

4. Scrutiny Referrals   

Reports 

5. Summer of Fun   

 To consider the attached report 
 

17 - 24 

6. Flying Start Expansion & Achieving existing Welsh  
Government (WG) expectation on numbers  

 

 To consider the attached report 
 

25 - 36 

Reflections 

7. Report Recommendations   

 Did we address the recommendations in each 
report and how have we added value? 
 

 

8. Feedback on Scrutiny Activities   

 Any outstanding actions? Feedback from 
workshops / task and finish groups / enquiry days, 
etc. 
 

 

9. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair   



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  L Minett Vokes (Chair) 
                     C Jones (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors: D Sammon, C Tovey, G Richards and 

I Thomas 
 
Co-optees: (none) 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2022/23 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1. To provide Scrutiny Members with the draft Forward Work Programme Framework 

for consideration to develop its work programme and to prepare in advance of the 
next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2. To agree the forward plan for meetings prior to the summer recess, including the 

agenda for this first scrutiny committee meeting (after the local elections). 
 
1.3. To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work.   

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Scrutiny Members consider appendix 3 and use this when planning the forward work 

programme.   
 
2.2 Scrutiny Members agree the Forward Work Programme be developed and brought 

to the next Scrutiny Committee meeting.   
 
2.3 Scrutiny Members agree items in the Forward Work Programme up to summer 

recess.   
 

 
 

Date Written 13th June 2022 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Service Area Scrutiny 

Exempt/Non-Exempt Non-Exempt 

Committee Date 21st June 2022 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1. The Council is continuing its recovery, transformation and improvement (RTI) 

journey.  A critical part of this is the Governance Improvement Programme.  A key 
element of this is the Scrutiny function and how we continue to improve it.  
  

3.2. As part of this improvement and throughout the scrutiny training for Elected Members 
(Adding value through Overview and Scrutiny) it was proposed to use ‘Making a 
difference together’ as an overarching aim for the Scrutiny function.   
 

3.3. It is vital that the scrutiny function adds value and supports the Council in achieving 
the outcomes needed by our residents.  The critical friend challenge provided by 
Scrutiny can positively impact upon achieving the outcomes needed by our 
residents.   
 

3.4. The Council has worked with the Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) and 
external experts to do this.  In doing so, key principles have been used and models 
developed.  The four principles of scrutiny (as set out by the Centre for Governance 
and Scrutiny) are listed below: 
 

• Provides constructive, critical friend challenge to executive policy-makers and 
decision-takers 

• Amplifies and enables the voice and concerns of the public and its 
communities 

• Led and owned by independent minded Councillors on behalf of the public 

• Drives improvement in public services 
 

3.5. Building on this, the Council has developed the ‘4S’s’ and ‘4R’s’ models.  The 4 S’s 
model underpins good scrutiny.  These four elements of Structure, Systems, Skills 
and Support are shown in more detail below: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



3.6. The 4 R’s model sets out how good scrutiny should work, as such can be used to 
develop a forward work programme.  The 4 R’s are: Right Issue; Right Way; Right 
Time; Right Place.  The figure below provides some examples against each of the 4 
R’s.  this forms the basis of the Forward Work Programme Framework.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3.7. Scrutiny Committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme 
for their work.  By reviewing and prioritising issues, Members are able to ensure that 
the work programmes deliver a member-led agenda and add value to delivery of 
outcomes for our residents.   
 

3.8. The attached forward work programme (appendix 1) identifies the topics and issues 
under consideration by Scrutiny prior to the summer recess.  Further items will be 
established prior to Scrutiny meetings in September.  This will allow Scrutiny 
Members time to view the Cabinet Forward Plan, better understand public voice and 
consider corporate objectives outcomes and priorities (including priorities for 
improvement as part of the RTI Plan).  Quarterly technical meetings will be used to 
do this.   
 

3.9. The opportunity for additional subjects to be identified and included on the 
programme is built in.  The Forward Work Programme is a live document and will be 
developed further for future meetings. 
 

3.10. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 
Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives.  
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the regional PSB have acted 
on this.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



3.11. MTCBC has four local Well-being Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 
help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national Well-being goals.  The four local Well-being objectives and priority outcomes 
are: 
 

Well-being Theme Objective Primary Outcome 

Best Start 

 

Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners 
and confident individuals. 

Improve the educational outcomes 
for all children and young people 

Working Life 

 

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet 
the needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure 
which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

Developing the environment and 
infrastructure for businesses to 
flourish 

Environmental 

 Well-being 

Communities protect, enhance, and promote our 
environment and countryside. 

Maximise the amount of material 
and resources reused and recycled in 
line with the waste hierarchy 

Living Well 

 

People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical 
and mental health. 

Ensure people are able to live 
independently and safely within their 
communities 

 
 

3.12. MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (please see appendix 2).  
This makes the connections from the seven national Well-being Goals to regional 
PSB objectives to local objectives and priorities for improvement.  When considered 
with directorates strategies-on-a-page (SOAPs), service area plans and business 
improvement plans (BIPs) a golden thread is created that can be extended down to 
individual plans.  This helps members of staff see how they are contributing to the 
Act and the ‘Wales We Want’ and will assist Scrutiny Members better understand the 
connections with the Act.   
 

3.13. The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these objectives 
and priority outcomes and/or are a priority for local people and communities.  If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people Councillors represent, the likelihood is that 
it is something that Scrutiny should consider.  The more relevant the issue is to local 
committees then the greater the likelihood of engaging those communities in the 
scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be visible to those communities 
represented.  

 
3.14. The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

Scrutiny to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to delivering 
our objectives and improving outcomes for residents.  At each meeting, Scrutiny 
Members will be asked to agree the agenda items for their next meetings and in 
preparation are recommended to following the Forward Work Programme 
Framework in appendix 3.   
 
 
 

Performance and Scrutiny Team 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Forward Work Programme 
 
Appendix 2 – Our Shared Vision 
 
Appendix 3 – Forward Work Programme Framework 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Statement of Well-being 
and the Corporate Well-
being Plan 
 
 

 
March 2022 

 
Council Website 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Appendix 1 – Forward Work Programme 
 
Social Services Scrutiny 
 
Work Programme up to September 2022 
 
Please note that this initial version covers items/issues up to the summer recess 2022 due to this being the start of a new electoral cycle.  The model 
for work programme planning set out in this report will be used in developing this going forward.   

 
Date / 
Timing 

Overarching 
Item/Issue 

Why is this on the work 
programme? 

Cabinet Member & 
Officer 

How will this be 
scrutinised? 

Scrutiny Focus – What 
are we trying to achieve? 

21st 
June 
2022 

Scrutiny 
Forward Work 
Programme 

Link to Well-being Objectives, 
priorities for improvement and 
ensuring public voice: 

• Living Well 

• RTI Plan – Increasing 
Resilience in Social Care 

• N/A – Chair of 
Social Services 
Scrutiny 

Venue: Council 
Chamber/MS Teams 

Adding value through critical 
friend challenge and ensuring 
a robust work programme is in 
place.  This will adhere to the 
4 principles of scrutiny and 
4R’s model.   

Scrutiny Type: 
Committee style meeting 

Summer of Fun 
/ Haf o Hwyl 

Link to Well-being Objectives, 
priorities for improvement: 

• Living Well 

• Best Start to Life 

• RTI Plan – Increasing 
Resilience in Social Care 

• RTI Plan – Raising 
Aspirations Raising 
Standards 

• Cabinet Member 
for Social Service 
– Councillor Julia 
Jenkins 

• Head of Service – 
Chris Hole 

Venue: Council 
Chamber/MS Teams 

Adding value through critical 
friend challenge to the 
approach to engaging the 
community in the provision of 
activities for children and 
young people aged 0-25 (as 
part of Welsh Governments 
recovery plan from Covid).  
Outcomes from the committee 
can be used to inform the 
programme. 

Scrutiny Type: 
Committee style meeting 

Flying Start 
Expansion & 
Achieving 
existing Welsh 

Link to Well-being Objectives, 
priorities for improvement: 

• Living Well 

• Best Start to Life 

• Cabinet Member 
for Social Service 
– Councillor Julia 
Jenkins 

Venue: Council 
Chamber/MS Teams 

Adding value through critical 
friend challenge and 
scrutinising data to inform 
plans to expand the Flying 

P
age 10



Government 
(WG) 
expectation on 
numbers 

• RTI Plan – Increasing 
Resilience in Social Care 

• RTI Plan – Raising 
Aspirations Raising 
Standards 

• Head of Service – 
Chris Hole 

Scrutiny Type: 
Committee style meeting 

Start Programme.  Scrutiny 
outcomes can be used in a 
report to Council to close the 
loop.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 11



Appendix 2 – Our Shared Vison 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 12



Appendix 3 – Forward Work Programme Framework 
 
Is this the Right Issue?  What is the Right Way to scrutinise this issue? 

Does this issue affect a number of people living, working and learning in 

Merthyr Tydfil? – i.e. Is it of significant public interest? 

 
Scrutiny Committee Meeting or over a number of meetings 

Does this issue impact on delivering our objectives, outcomes and 

priorities?  Including impacts on budgets (sustainability). 

 Task and Finish Group (this needs to have a set timescale and scope to 

avoid delays and expectation, perhaps set a timescale of around 8 weeks) 

Will scrutiny involvement make a significant difference and achieve 

tangible outcomes? – i.e. To what extent will scrutiny add value?   

 
Working Group Meetings 

How will performance improve? How does this issue link to an area of 

poor performance? 

 
Enquiry Day 

Will scrutinising this issue cause duplication?  Workshop(s) 

To what extent is the Council likely to review the relevant policy area 

(allowing scrutiny recommendations to influence the new direction to be 

taken)? 

 Joint Scrutiny activities (over more than one Scrutiny Committee) or 

maybe through joint overview and scrutiny committees (JOSCs) with a 

wider scope than just MTCBC (e.g. regional Cwm Taf JOSC) 

To what level is the issue of concern to Members, Partners, Stakeholders 

and/or the Community? 

 
Site visit and walk through 

Are there adequate resources available to do the scrutiny well?  To what extent does this issue need specialist advice/detail? 

 
 Seeking the views of service users, carers and/or the general public 

(public calls for information) 

  To what extent is the issue focussed enough to lead to effective scrutiny? 

 
 

P
age 13



When is the Right Time to scrutinise this issue?  Where is the Right Place to scrutinise this issue? 

Planning Stage  Council Chamber 

Pre-decision  Another Council Venue 

Post-decision  In the Community 

Review Stage  On site (e.g. project site, if safe to do so) 

Annual Basis  Joint Scrutiny Committee (or more than one Committee) 

Regular Basis (e.g. quarterly) 
 At a Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JOSC outside MTCBC and 

with external input) 

When is the best time in the year? (Think when is too early or too late)  Officer scrutiny (e.g. Quarterly Performance Improvement Reviews) 

  Other (please state) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 14



When stepping through the four R’s above, it is important to ask the questions below 
to ensure that preparation and planning will lead to effective and efficient scrutiny. 

 
Q).  What is the specific role of Scrutiny and what are we trying to achieve? 

 

 
o To determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 

service. 
 

o To determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose. 
 

o To satisfy itself that the Council is working well with its partners in tackling a 
major issue. 
 

o To gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of a scrutiny 
investigation/review. 
 

o To explore possible solutions to an issue and close the loop by effective and 
timely reporting/escalation. 

 

 
Q).  What outcomes are Scrutiny seeking from the consideration of this issue? 

 

 
o To consider the impacts of proposed budgets and make suggestions to Cabinet 

regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the Council. 
 

o Identification of any causes for concern, note successes and report to Cabinet 
accordingly. 

 
o To receive overview presentations to summarise a report(s) or feedback on 

previous actions or wider scrutiny function. 
 

o To gain an understanding of, and to comment on, a policy/strategy.  Scrutiny 
should add value to the development of the policy/strategy. 
 

o To explore ideas around service improvement and/or the setting of budgets while 
considering the pressures facing services.  This also helps provide an overview 
of the policy framework.  Scrutiny should add value to the process.   
 

o For Scrutiny to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of the Well-being 
objectives/other plans/other strategies/policies and priorities.  Scrutiny should add 
value to the process. 
 

o Improve in service delivery and add value. 
 
o To ensure we are adding value, be specific, it is better to scrutinise a small 

number of issues well than not be able to scrutinise a number of issues that were 
originally planned.   

 
 
 

Page 15



Q).  What information/data does Scrutiny need to fulfil this role/achieve this 
outcome? 
 

What is Scrutiny trying to do?  You might be trying to do some or all of the following e.g. 
establish facts, gather opinions, provide critical friend challenge and/or explore new 
ideas/solutions. 

 
Q).  Who should be invited to the Scrutiny to provide the information/data? 
 

Depending on the information/data you need, you might want to hear from a range of 
people – e.g. Cabinet Members, Senior Officers, Service users, Carers and/or External 
partners (such as the Police, Strategic Partners, etc.). 

 
Q).  Does Scrutiny need to ask for written representations? 
 

Scrutiny may wish to pose questions to the Cabinet Member/Directorate/External Partner 
etc. prior to the meeting.  This may help in instances when Scrutiny is looking for something 
specific to be addressed.  This will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the 
information/data/answer ready for the meeting. 

 
Q).  Which meeting format would be most appropriate for the item and for the people 
that will be invited to attend? 
 

Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees were held via 
Microsoft Teams.  This decision was taken to ensure the safety of our Members, Officers 
and all others in attendance.  Currently, the Council is in the processes of finalising the use 
of a hybrid system for meetings (with a protocol for this being developed).  This will be 
reviewed in line with any updates and advice from U.K. and Welsh Government.   

 

Page 16



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Summer of Fun / Haf o Hwyl 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 To enable members to review the approach to engaging the community in the 

provision of activities for children and young people aged 0-25 as part of Welsh 
Governments recovery plan from Covid.  

 
1.2 To highlight the challenges associated to the play agenda and ensuring independent 

organisations continue to move towards meeting identified quality standards and 
appropriate regulatory frameworks  

    
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 Scrutiny to debate the contents of the report and note the approach taken to the 

distribution of funding in support of the Summer of Fun 2022.  
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 This will be the second year of running the Summer of Fun/ Haf o Hwyl scheme first 
introduced by Welsh Government in June 2021.  The purpose of the funding was to 
begin to address the social and emotional wellbeing challenges children, young people 
and families experienced during lockdown and to support the sustainability of existing 
community providers. Welsh Government undertook a national evaluation of the 
programme and were insistent that no further funding for 2022 would be forth coming 
despite also having funded a Winter of Wellbeing.  
 

3.2 In contrast to previous communications Welsh Government announced further funding 
for Summer of Fun 2022. The resource allocated to Merthyr Tydfil is £107,777 and is 
a one off allocation with no promise of further funding for 2023. In recognition of the 
additional burden the resource places on local authorities WG have allocated a small 
percentage to support Local Authorities in the coordination and management of the 

Date Written 19/05/22 

Report Author Chris Hole / Diane Jones  

Service Area Prevention 

Committee Date 21/06/22 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



programme. This is particularly welcomed by the Play Sufficiency Steering group, due 
to the limited officer time currently available (part time post) to support the delivery of 
the Play agenda across the LA.   
 

3.3 In addition to the local resource national organisations (i.e. Libraries, Museums, Sports 
Wales, Urdd) will also receive a direct award of funding from Welsh Government 
equating to £1.7million across Wales to provide activities and these should not 
duplicate local resources. 
 

3.4 Based upon the demand witnessed during 2021 and through the subsequent Winter 
of Wellbeing the department is expecting the application process to be oversubscribed 
and therefore consideration will need to be given to ensuring an appropriate spread of 
provision across  the age groups and across wards.  

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 
 

4.1  In 2021 the allocation for Merthyr Tydfil was £87,000 and allowed the authority to 
coordinate services offered in response to School Holiday Enrichment Programme 
(SHEP), the Fit and Fed programme and the Street Games programme.  The initiative 
was supported by a social media approach and campaign and linked to a similar 
campaigned led by the Children’s Commissioner for Wales. Due to the timescales a 
small planning group was convened to agree ways forward in line with the conditions 
of the grant. The agreed approach in line with the guidance from Welsh Government 
was to focus resources to:   

• support the third sector to provide open access community-based services for 
children and young people aged 8 to 25yrs ‘free’ within existing play and youth 
settings across the county borough (universal) 

• support access to registered childcare in a range of providers across the county 
borough providing free access for children with disabilities as adopted during 
Covid lockdown.  (targeted) 

• support vulnerable families engaged in Team around the Family to access free 
childcare sessions (targeted) 

4.2  During the Summer of Fun Programme/ Haf o Hwyl Project, 17 providers   were 
engaged, with a target to engage with 841 children and young people, this target was 
exceeded with the initiative engaging with 1,242, 117 of which were Welsh speakers, 
including 96 children and young people.  All providers were also asked to complete a 
Welsh Government evaluation, this demonstrated the following.  

• The gender breakdown was circa 52% boys and 48% girls.   

• Provisions described their delivery as 21% providing some bilingual service, 
7% Welsh medium and the remainder English medium provision.  

• 42% of provision commissioned was new for the summer with the remainder 
extending their service offer and for 28% of providers this resource enabled 
them to source particular expertise to improve the curriculum offer.  

Page 18



• Providers (43%) described themselves as offering a mixture of sports, play, 
and culture activities with a further 14% offering sport only and 21% only 
offering cultural activities.   

• 21% of services also engaged parents during the summer through family 
activities.  

4.3  All activities were free and provided a variety of positive and enriching play 
experiences and opportunities for children and young people to help improve their 
creativity and self-confidence and develop their relationship skills with their peers and 
trusted adults.  

4.4 A key challenge to the play agenda across Merthyr Tydfil is the Local Authority is reliant 
upon independent providers, many of whom have had little access to training around 
‘Play’ and are reluctant to move towards achieving registered status to provide play 
opportunities. The introduction of these grant resources has proved a catalyst to 
working with and encouraging organisations to consider registration or implementing 
national quality standards, whilst identifying their play training needs and accessing 
training opportunities made available through the All Wales Play Opportunities grant 
funding.  

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 

5.1 The Local Authority is yet to receive the written confirmation of its allocation for the 
2022 Summer of Fun programme. Discussions have been ongoing reviewing the 
approach previously taken in addition to noting the national evaluation outcomes. The 
latest guidance has been streamlined but is generally in line with the previous 
guidance except it also now requires provision to be in line with the priorities of the 
local Authorities Play Sufficiency Assessment and action plan. 
 

5.2 Due to the past success of the programme, the Play Sufficiency Steering group are 
proposing to use the same approach as previously, ensuring a balance of both 
universal community-based provision and targeted provision. This will ensure all 
children and young people can access some free activities during the Summer of 
2022, including vulnerable families and children with disabilities.  This has been 
communicated to partners so that they have more time to plan their provision in line 
with the guidance.   
 

5.3 Building upon the previous year a grant awards panel is being established from the 
membership of the play Sufficiency Steering group to assess community applications. 
This will include representatives from identified areas to ensure duplication of 
resources across the community is minimised as much as possible:  
 

• Chair of PSA steering group 

• Lead from Childcare 

• Lead from Play 

• Lead from Youth Services 

• Lead from Leisure Trust 

 

Page 19



5.4 In addition financial allocations based on summer 2021 expenditure will be set aside 
to support:  vulnerable families to access childcare through team around the family 
panel (circa 4k): children with disabilities to access appropriate provision in local 
settings avoiding parents paying for this provision (circa14k) 
 

5.5 At the time of writing this report information packs and application forms are being 
finalised and at the time of presenting these will have been distributed to organisations 
across the county borough.  There will be a two staged process where organisations 
can discuss an application with the play development officer prior to making an 
application. A full application will then be required for the awarding panel to consider.  
It is hoped that this approach will reduce any non-permissible applications and 
encourage organisations to work together in localities to avoid disappointment and 
maximise grant resources. Particularly as the expected budget on open access 
provision in the community  will equate to circa £7,300 per ward area.  
 

5.6 The Local Authority is reliant upon community providers to deliver holiday activities 
and programmes to children across the community. The initial findings from both the 
Childcare Sufficiency Assessment and the Play Sufficiency Assessment suggest that 
‘registered’ out of school childcare provision is an area for development.  

 
5.7 To support the development of Play and to introduce quality standards the Play 

department have been working with Play Wales to provide a play conference for local 
providers. This will encourage community based providers to implement quality 
frameworks and /or move towards registering with Care Inspectorate Wales as 
registered providers of play opportunities primarily for the 8- 11 age group.    

 
6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

 
6.1 The Play Sufficiency Steering Group would want to see engagement in the Summer 

of Fun to at least match the delivery within 2021 if not exceed it, particularly in relation 
to the number of organisations and young people involved. This would include 
provision being available in every Ward and a continuation of the coordination of 
resources across a range of programmes available during the Summer period.  
 

6.2 Registered childcare providers (0-8yrs) have traditionally offered registered out of 
school activities and are familiar and compliant with Care Inspectorate Wales 
regulations surrounding childcare. Whilst Youth Services provide for young people 
aged 11-25 and operate to a different quality framework and are part of the Estyn 
inspection process.  

 
6.3 Community organisations often provide informal open access multi activity play 

provision for children under the age of 12, which by its age is defined as ‘Play’ by 
Welsh Government and is subject to specific regulations (Appendix A Extract National 
Minimum Standards). Continued partnership working with these organisations is 
necessary to increase the percentage that become compliant with regulatory 
frameworks around Play and subsequently improve access to out of school provision 
of good quality.  
 

 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT Page 20



 
7.1 Assessment of the applications received, ensuring this is compliant with the guidance, 

scored appropriately and ensuring a balance of provision across the county borough. 
With all organisations notified in writing as to the outcome of their application and 
where applications are denied clear reasons for this are provided.  
 

7.2 Issue contracts, and in line with monitoring and reporting agreements ensure quality 
visits to provision is undertaken across providers and to gain direct feedback from both 
organisations and participants during the summer of 2022 and ensuring providers 
complete the national survey evaluation. 
 

7.3 In response to the Play and Childcare Sufficiency Assessments ensure community 
based organisations have access to professional expertise on achieving Care 
Inspectorate Wales registration where appropriate. Increasing the number of 
compliant organisations.    

 
 

 
8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO RAISING ASPIRATIONS RAISING STANDARDS 

STRATEGY 
 

8.1 The contents of this report relate to the following RARS Themes and Goals 
 
• Pandemic Recovery 
• Young peoples Health and Wellbeing 

 
9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
9.1 The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

 

• Best Start to Life ‘Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals 

 
 
 
 
 
LISA CURTIS-JONES 
DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR JULIA JENKINS   
PORTFOLIO LEAD  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 
 

Page 21



 
 

 
 

Appendix A Extract National Minimum Standards 

 
National Minimum Standards for Regulated Childcare for children up to the age of 12 years 
 
In Wales, child minding, day care and play provision for children up to 12 years of age is regulated 
by the Care Inspectorate Wales (CIW). 
 
Regulated childcare falls into two categories: 

1. Childminding  
2. Day care and open access play provision 

 
Regulated open access play provision is described as staffed play provision operating for over 2 
hours a day for children up to the age of 12 years and can be a permanent or temporary provision, 
located in a variety of settings with or without premises and can include holiday play schemes.  
This provision usually caters for a wide age range of children, normally aged 5 years old and over. 
The purpose is to provide staffed play opportunities for children usually in the absence of their 
parents. Children are not restricted in their movements, other than where related to safety matters 
and they are not prevented from coming and going as and when they wish.  
 
*The service would not need to register if they run play sessions under 2 hours and the provision 
is limited to less than 6 days per year, and/or parents remain in the provision with their children  
 
Day care for children exceptions 

1. If the care is provided on fewer than six days in any calendar year and the person 
has notified CIW in writing before the first occasion on which the relevant premises 
are used in that year. 

 
If a service is open for more than 2 hours a day or more than 5 days in one year then they 
will need to register with the CIW if parents are not present.  
 
I have just checked with childcare business support and settings can run all day e.g. 8-6pm 
for 5 days in any calendar year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Flying Start Expansion & Achieving existing Welsh 
Government (WG) expectation on numbers 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report explores the data and presents an option for Phase 1 of the geographical 

expansion of Flying Start, that is required by Welsh Government in preparation for 
September 2022. The expansion will allow for an additional 83 children to be 
admitted into the programme. Local Authorities are required to use the data 
modelling supplied by WG to achieve an expansion based on at least 75% being 
geographical.  A summary position is presented at each stage with full data tables in 
the analysis for clarity as a range of data sets have been overlaid on this data due to 
it being over 5 years old.  

 
1.2 In addition WG are requiring local authorities to address the shortfall in achieving 

CAP figures which can be through geographical amendments or through an outreach 
approach. A proposal has been put forward that will enable the authority to progress 
both approaches. 

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 Members to debate the contents of this report and the proposed plans for expansion 

of Flying Start 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 Welsh Government have announced a commitment to a phased geographical 

expansion of the Flying Start programme across all areas of Wales  leading towards 
full coverage of the County Borough over several phases/years. This will ultimately 

Date Written 19th May 2022 

Report Author Chris Hole / Sarah Ostler  

Service Area Children’s Services/ Prevention 

Committee Date 21st June 2022 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



meet Welsh Governments commitment towards providing free childcare for 2-3 year 
olds. This will eventually bring equity of access to the programme which has been a 
challenge since its introduction in 2007. It is important to note that the expansion 
guidance provided by Welsh Government requires the local authority to provide all 4 
key elements of the programme:  
 

• Childcare 

• Enhanced Health Visiting 

• Speech and Language 

• Parenting  
 

3.2 In phase 1 of this expansion Merthyr Tydfil has been allocated an additional 
£116,000 with the expectation that phase 1 will be implemented from September 
2022- March 2023 bringing in a completely new LSOA (s). This expansion will allow 
for an additional 83 children, 0–4yrs to be engaged in the programme, raising the 
existing CAP figure of 1204 up to 1287.  

 

3.3  In addition to the phased expansion, all local authorities across Wales have been 
challenged to address how they will achieve their existing CAP figures (1204) as  
over a number of years most local authorities  are  not achieving this, due to falling 
birth rates and demographic changes  in populations.  

 
 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 In 2012, the current Flying Start programme was expanded to cover 41% (1204) of 

the 0-4 population and is the largest percentage of families eligible across Wales in 
any single Local Authority.  Previous expansions have been in line with Welsh 
Government guidance and used both Welsh Index Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) data 
and Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) data to identify the Lower Super 
Output Areas (LSOA) that at the time were experiencing   the highest deprivation 
levels in relation to child poverty.  The following (Table 1) identifies the LSOAs that 
are currently included in Flying Start Programme and those that are not. 
 
Table 1 (FS LSOA’s) 

Ward  FS – LSOA’s LSOA’s Not FS  

   

Bedlinog And Trelewis Bedlinog 2 Bedlinog 1 

Cyfarthfa Cyfarthfa 1,2,3 Cyfarthfa 4 

Dowlais & Pant Dowlais 1,4 Dowlais 2 &3 

Gurnos Gurnos 1,2,3  

Merthyr Vale Merthyr Vale 1,2 Merthyr Vale 3 

Park  Park 1, 2 &3 

Penydarren Penydarren 1,2 Penydarren 3 
and4 

Plymouth Plymouth 1 Plymouth 2 &3 

Town  Town 1, 2, 3 & 4 

Treharris Treharris 3 Treharris 1, 2 &4 

Vaynor   Vaynor 1,&2 

   

11 Wards  15 LSOA’s 21 LSOA’s 

  
Page 26



4.2 Merthyr Tydfil through its existing model of Flying Start is better placed than some 
Local Authorities to be able to expand the programme by September 2022 as it 
works proactively with all childcare providers across the county borough to provide 
childcare places for Flying Start. This expansion of the programme could see local 
providers increase their business or the development of entirely new childcare 
provision to accommodate the expansion, particularly in wards or LSOA’s where no 
provision currently exists. Any development of new provision will need to be 
considered in line with future Education plans including capital development of 
schools, the WESP and the wider Community Focused Schools approach. 
 

4.3 In addition Merthyr Tydfil Flying Start programme is well placed to expand due to the 
approach that has been taken across the poverty agenda. This has delivered an 
integrated approach to funding (Flying Start/ Families First/Legacy) already providing 
borough wide access to both Parenting and Early language Development groups  
both of which are core elements of the Flying Start programme. It should be noted 
however that there is still some inequity as Flying Start children undertake Wellcomm  
screening and can gain access to specialist advice  via a Speech and Language 
therapist funded via Flying Start.    
 

4.4 It should be noted that although the above LSOAs are included in the programme in 
some areas specific postcodes are excluded which is largely due to the original 
approach being linked to school catchments and new housing developments not 
being included after the programme was established  This latest guidance from WG 
allows for the authority to begin to address this and to consider its future use of 
outreach (supporting access for non-Flying Start families) on a more formal footing 
and on a bigger scale than available in previous guidance (limited to 2.5% for Flying 
Start. However, 75% of the phase 1 expansion has to remain geographically based.  

 
 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 
5.1 Welsh Government have once again provided guidance for the expansion 

programme and the most up to date WIMD income deprived household data and 
DWP data along with the population level data. This approach was previously 
recognised and confirmed as the most transparent approach available upon which to 
base the expansion programme.  This clearly demonstrates that based on this data 
alone (appendix A) the areas that should be considered in priority order, for 
expansion in phase 1 are:  Park 3, Vaynor 1, Treharris 4, Plymouth 3, Town 2 due 
to the percentage of children living in income deprived households. However this 
data and the population numbers it includes is based upon 2016/17 data and 
concerns have been raised with Welsh Government regarding this. To address this 
the service has overlaid a number of other data sets to better inform the thinking.  

 
 

5.2 This data has been overlaid with the 2020 mid year population estimates and a full 
analysis of the 2019 overall WIMD ranking for each LSOA (appendix B) currently not 
Flying Start and this would indicate the following priority areas: 

 
 

Table  2: LSOA WIMD Rankings (non-Flying Start)  
 

LSOA  WIMD 

Page 27



Decile 
2019 

    

Park 3  10% 

Town 1  20% 

Town 3  30% 

Treharris 4 30% 

Bedlinog 1  30% 

   
 

5.3 In addition to the above an analysis of Health Visitor caseloads and the registrar data 
(appendix c) held by the councils Education department has been completed.  This 
has provided an analysis of the potential number of children requiring childcare 
places. This has been presented below for the high priority areas identified in both 
sets of data analysis referred to above. This analysis is critical as childcare provision 
is the most sought after element of the Flying Start offer(table 3).   
 
Table 3: Priority Areas Childcare requirements 

WIMD 
decile 
2019 

LSOA  Childcare 
Required  

 Availability for September 2022 

      

10% Park 3  12 Here We Grow Day Nursery have potential to 
expand and accommodate up to 24 children 

20% Town 1  11 As above   

30% Town 3  13 Limited childcare provision within 15 minutes 
walking distance of some parts of the LSOA 

30% Treharris 4 17 Limited space available in local provision - could not 
accommodate all children 

30% Bedlinog 1  11 Provision due to open Sept 22  

40% Plymouth 3  14 Availability in childcare provision within Integrated 
Children’s Centre  

80% Town 2 24 Limited childcare provision within 15 minutes 
walking distance of some parts of the LSOA 

60% Vaynor 1 10 No childcare available in LSOA - would require 
families to access provision in  Cefn Coed 

 
 

5.4 As part of the expansion Welsh Government are requiring Local Authorities to 
support its drive to increase the number of Welsh Speakers by increasing access to 
Welsh Medium provision.  At this point the language preference of parents in non-
Flying Start areas is unknown, however, there is potential to meet the language 
preference in existing providers through the current Flying Start commissioning 
model, however this may not comply with the 15 minute walking distance advised by 
WG. This interim and practical approach has been shared with WG who are content 
that the authority is able to offer parents a Welsh language  option, prior to potential 
increases in dedicated Welsh medium childcare services as part of the continued 
expansion in subsequent years.   

 
5.5 Achieving Existing CAP: due to a falling birth rate, there has been a reduction in 

the number of families from existing LSOA’s. The annual performance return to WG 
for the 21/22 year identifies the number of children benefitting from Flying Start was 

LSOA  WIMD 
Decile 
2019 

  

Dowlais 3  40% 

Park 1  40% 

Penydarren 4 40% 

Plymouth 2 40% 

Plymouth 3 40% 

Page 28



1013.  The Covid pandemic and the additional funding from WG to provide access to 
childcare for some vulnerable families (not Flying Start) has had some impact on this 
figure.  
 

5.5.1 To achieve the existing CAP figure there are two factors that need to be considered 
the existing postcodes excluded from the current Flying Start LSOA’s (appendix D) 
which given time will all have to be included in the programme. Also important is 
ensuring there is flexibility within the system to have an effective outreach capacity to 
support vulnerable families not residing in agreed Flying Start LSOA’s.  In order to 
support earlier identification and prevention, the outreach approach will need to be 
refocused to ensure families coming into Flying Start access earlier and benefit from 
a range of enhanced Flying Start services rather than   just entering at the point of 
wanting childcare. Identification of families for outreach has relied upon health 
undertaking an assessment of family needs using an acuity tool which determines 
level of vulnerability. The proposed outreach model is set out within Appendix E.  

  
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 
6.1  Expansion Phase 1: The data clearly identifies Park 3 as the most deprived LSOA 

that is not currently Flying Start. There is also accessible childcare within a 
reasonable distance therefore it is proposed that Park 3 be designated a Flying Start 
LSOA from September 2022. This would make an additional 68 children eligible for 
the programme and increase outreach capacity by 15 children meeting the 83 target 
set by WG.  

 
6.2 It is proposed that in the short-term September 2022 -April 2023 we do not expand 

the existing Early language development or Parenting teams due to having borough 
wide services currently and existing capacity to meet current demand. This will allow 
for further information from WG on the full expansion time frame to be received. In 
addition, and more importantly it will allow for a more strategic review of what these 
services should be at full expansion and allow for a road map to be developed to 
achieve this.  
 

6.3 Looking ahead at the future expansion programme despite no time frames yet being 
provided by WG we would anticipate that, provided childcare is available, the 
authority would seek to target expansion at those communities in the top 30% of the 
WIMD decile and then progress upwards of this. Should more up to date data 
become available from DWP a renewed analysis would be completed and presented 
back to members for consideration particularly in relation to Vaynor 1, Plymouth 3, 
Town 2.   
  

6.4 Achieving Existing CAP: In balancing both needs of the expansion discussed above 
it is proposed that those existing LSOA’s that are already approved as Flying Start 
within the top 30% have the excluded post codes brought into the programme. This 
would make an additional 90 children eligible for the programme and leave only 2 
LSOA’s with excluded postcodes, which would need to be addressed in future 
expansion phases.    
 

6.5 This approach would leave sufficient capacity within the cap number to also enable 
116 children from outside of Flying Start geographic postcodes to access the 

Page 29



programme through the agreed needs led outreach model. It should be noted that 
this is not 116 annually as children can remain in the programme for up to 4 years.   

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 
 
7.1 Expansion Phase 1:  Secure council agreement on the proposal and inform Welsh 

Government.  
 

7.2 Work with the childcare provider in Park 3 to enter into a short-term commissioning 
agreement for the 22/23 academic year to ensure that the expansion of the provision 
is achieved and sustainable. This would then transfer to the approved 
commissioning model as applied to most providers across the borough, minimising 
any wastage of Flying Start resources on unfilled childcare spaces.  

 
7.3 Work with Health to agree the health visiting approach as national discussions are 

advising there may be a need to look at skills mix approach due to the national 
shortage of Health Visitors 
 

7.4 Update existing systems to include agreed areas and update partners including local 
childcare providers in these areas.  
 

7.5 Work with strategic partners to review the future structure and approach to both 
Parenting and Early language development for the 0-4 age group  and their parents. 
Particularly as these will progress towards universal services. It is also reasonable to 
expect that this could impact on existing integrated approaches and potentially have 
implications for other aspects of the Children and Communities Grant.     

 

7.6 Scope out potential facilities in areas where childcare does not currently exist or is 
predicted not to meet the needs to support future capital investment requirements. 
 

7.7 Require the current childcare business support organisation to target identified 
LSOA’s  where new provision will be developed and to market opportunities for 
expansion to existing providers both inside the county borough and from outside to 
ensure future sufficiency in line with the expansion timescales once known  

 
7.8 Identify opportunities to apply for capital funding to support the development of new 

childcare in line with the requirements of future LSOA’s as the expansion programme 
develops 

 
 

8.0   CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 
 
8.1 The contents of this report relate to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

 
Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills 
they need to be successful learners and confident individuals 
 
People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they 
are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health 

 
 

Page 30



LISA CURTIS-JONES 
DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES 

COUNCILLOR JULIA JENKINS 
PORTFOLIO LEAD 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 31



Data Received from WG (Ranked by LA)      Appendix A  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LSOA Name FS

Number of 

children aged 

under 4 in 

income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17

Rank

(Number of 

children aged 

under 4 in income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17)

Percentage of 

children aged 

under 4 in 

income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17

Rank 

(Percentage of 

children aged 

under 4 in 

income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17)

Total number of 

children aged 

under 4 from 

2020 mid year 

estimates

2-3yr olds 

(childcare) 2020 

mid year est

Park 3 30 1 46 1 68 43

Vaynor 1 25 5 42 2 89 50

Treharris 2 20 6 39 3 52 20

Treharris 4 30 1 28 4 95 48

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 3 30 1 28 4 87 49

Merthyr Vale 3 15 9 26 6 47 26

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 2 15 9 26 6 46 34

Penydarren 4 15 9 25 8 76 37

Dowlais 2 15 9 25 8 62 33

Town 3 15 9 25 8 61 35

Vaynor 2 20 6 24 11 52 24

Town 2 30 1 23 12 95 59

Penydarren 3 15 9 22 13 72 33

Dowlais 3 20 6 21 14 90 42

Bedlinog 1 10 16 20 15 62 26

Town 1 15 9 19 16 79 41

Park 2 5 18 12 17 61 31

Town 4 10 16 11 18 85 47

Park 1 5 18 10 19 35 14

Treharris 1 5 18 9 20 72 42

Cyfarthfa 4 0 21 2 21 70 43

Page 32



 
WG Data (Including WIMD Decile 2019)       Appendix B  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

LSOA Name

2019 

WIMD % 

deprivation 

decile - 

Wales FS

Number of 

children aged 

under 4 in 

income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17

Rank

(Number of 

children aged 

under 4 in income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17)

Percentage of 

children aged 

under 4 in 

income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17

Rank 

(Percentage of 

children aged 

under 4 in 

income 

deprived 

households in 

2016/17)

Total number of 

children aged 

under 4 from 

2020 mid year 

estimates

2-3yr olds 

(childcare) 2020 

mid year est

Park 3 10% 30 1 46 1 68 43

Vaynor 1 60% 25 5 42 2 89 50

Treharris 2 50% 20 6 39 3 52 20

Treharris 4 30% 30 1 28 4 95 48

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 3 40% 30 1 28 4 87 49

Merthyr Vale 3 60% 15 9 26 6 47 26

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 2 40% 15 9 26 6 46 34

Penydarren 4 40% 15 9 25 8 76 37

Dowlais 2 50% 15 9 25 8 62 33

Town 3 30% 15 9 25 8 61 35

Vaynor 2 60% 20 6 24 11 52 24

Town 2 80% 30 1 23 12 95 59

Penydarren 3 60% 15 9 22 13 72 33

Dowlais 3 40% 20 6 21 14 90 42

Bedlinog 1 30% 10 16 20 15 62 26

Town 1 20% 15 9 19 16 79 41

Park 2 60% 5 18 12 17 61 31

Town 4 50% 10 16 11 18 85 47

Park 1 40% 5 18 10 19 35 14

Treharris 1 90% 5 18 9 20 72 42

Cyfarthfa 4 100% 0 21 2 21 70 43

Page 33



 
 
Health Visitor Caseload and Capita One Data Comparison      Appendix C  
 

Under 12 

months

12 – 23 

months

24-35 

months

Difference 

from HV 

dataset

Row Labels Sum of Under 1 Sum of 1 Sum of 2 Total LSOA Under 1 Under2 Under 3 Total

Bedlinog 1 7 13 17 37 Bedlinog 1 6 11 16 33 -4

Bedlinog 2 35 28 32 95 Bedlinog 2 32 23 26 81 -14

Cyfarthfa 1 35 29 26 90 Cyfarthfa 1 24 19 25 68 -22

Cyfarthfa 2 18 17 26 61 Cyfarthfa 2 19 24 31 74 13

Cyfarthfa 3 14 12 16 42 Cyfarthfa 3 11 9 18 38 -4

Cyfarthfa 4 18 18 17 53 Cyfarthfa 4 12 7 15 34 -19

Dowlais 1 15 10 23 48 Dowlais 1 15 12 24 51 3

Dowlais 2 19 21 11 51 Dowlais 2 19 13 13 45 -6

Dowlais 3 14 18 19 51 Dowlais 3 14 14 21 49 -2

Dowlais 4 15 27 17 59 Dowlais 4 14 23 18 55 -4

Gurnos 1, 2 & 3 60 62 79 201 Gurnos 1,2 &3 56 66 75 197 -4

Merthyr Vale 1 19 24 16 59 Merthyr Vale 1 18 19 17 54 -5

Merthyr Vale 2 16 8 14 38 Merthyr Vale 2 13 9 15 37 -1

Merthyr Vale 3 13 14 13 40 Merthyr Vale 3 13 5 13 31 -9

Park 1 6 10 17 33 Park 1 6 4 14 24 -9

Park 2 11 16 9 36 Park 2 8 9 9 26 -10

Park 3 14 5 8 27 Park 3 10 3 12 25 -2

Penydarren 1 14 24 17 55 Penydarren 1 12 19 17 48 -7

Penydarren 2 10 13 12 35 Penydarren 2 10 19 15 44 9

Penydarren 3 22 15 17 54 Penydarren 3 17 13 15 45 -9

Penydarren 4 17 19 16 52 Penydarren 4 10 9 14 33 -19

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 1 10 11 12 33 Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 1 6 9 11 26 -7

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 2 14 14 10 38 Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 2 12 10 6 28 -10

Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 3 18 15 19 52 Plymouth (Merthyr Tydfil) 3 15 6 16 37 -15

Town 1 25 13 19 57 Town 1 24 6 13 43 -14

Town 2 22 27 31 80 Town 2 15 13 30 58 -22

Town 3 18 26 21 65 Town 3 16 16 19 51 -14

Town 4 9 16 11 36 Town 4 8 12 10 30 -6

Treharris 1 11 11 7 29 Treharris 1 7 6 6 19 -10

Treharris 2 10 16 14 40 Treharris 2 4 8 13 25 -15

Treharris 3 20 17 23 60 Treharris 3 23 19 24 66 6

Treharris 4 15 16 25 56 Treharris 4 13 7 24 44 -12

Vaynor 1 15 8 11 34 Vaynor 1 10 5 14 29 -5

Vaynor 2 10 15 14 39 Vaynor 2 5 11 14 30 -9

(blank) 1 0 2 3

Grand Total 590 608 641 1839 Total 497 458 623 1578 -261

Capita Data age range as at today

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 34



 
 
Flying Start LSOA - excluded Postcodes     Appendix D  
Postcode Children 0-4 LSOA Wimd rank 2019 

CF46 5RD 3 Bedlinog 2 Spring Field Rise, Treharris Bedlinog 2 - top 40%

CF46 6DJ 1 Bedlinog 2 Meadow Lane, Trelewis

CF46 6DQ 1 Bedlinog 2 The Paddocks, Trelewis

CF46 6EE 7 Bedlinog 2 Manor View, Trelewis

CF46 6EF 6 Bedlinog 2 River Avenue , Trelewis

CF46 6EJ 5 Bedlinog 2 Orchard Row, Trelewis

CF46 6EQ 6 Bedlinog 2 High Field Rise, Trelewis

CF46 6ET 2 Bedlinog 2 Ivy Close, Trelewis

CF46 6EZ 3 Bedlinog 2 Primrose Walk, Trelewis

CF46 6FA 7 Bedlinog 2 Fox Glove Close, Trelewis

CF46 6FB 9 Bedlinog 2 Upland Drive, Trelewis

CF48 1BW 5 Cyfarthfa 1 Beacon Heights (Cyfarthfa 1) Cyfarthfa 1 - top 60%

CF48 1JA 1 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JB 3 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JE 3 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JG 4 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JH 3 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JJ 3 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JN 7 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JP 3 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JT 2 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JU 4 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JW 5 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1JY 1 Cyfarthfa 1 Castle Park (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1NL 10 Cyfarthfa 1 Beacon Heights (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1NS 3 Cyfarthfa 1 Beacon Heights (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1PB 1 Cyfarthfa 1 Pen y Dyffryn (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1PL 20 Cyfarthfa 1 Pen y Dyffryn (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1PR 2 Cyfarthfa 1 Waunbant Court (Cyfarthfa 1)

CF48 1HR 2 Cyfarthfa 2 Clwydyfagwr (Cyfarthfa 2) Cyfarthfa 2 - top 10%

CF48 1HW 2 Cyfarthfa 2 Clwydyfagwr (Cyfarthfa 2)

CF48 1HZ 10 Cyfarthfa 2 Clwydyfagwr (Cyfarthfa 2)

CF48 1LN 3 Cyfarthfa 2 Heol y Brain (Cyfarthfa 2)

CF48 1AQ 5 Cyfarthfa 3 Woodland Walk (Cyfarthfa 3) Cyfarthfa 3 - top 30%

CF48 1AS 9 Cyfarthfa 3 Penderyn Close (Cyfarthfa 3)

CF48 1AZ 1 Cyfarthfa 3 Woodlane (Cyfarthfa 3)

CF48 1TQ 14 Cyfarthfa 3 Panc Cwm Pant Bach, Heolgerrig (Cyfarthfa 4)

CF47 8LX 1 Gurnos 1, 2 & 3 Hirwaun Tce, Gurnos 3 Gurnos 3 - top 10%

CF48 1EN 1 Gurnos 1, 2 & 3 Lakeside Gardens (Gurnos 2) Gurnos 2 - top 10%

CF48 4TL 18 Merthyr Vale 1 King Fisher Crescent, Merthyr Vale Merthry Vale 1- top 30%

CF48 4TX 19 Merthyr Vale 1 Heron Walk, Merthyr Vale

CF47 9EF 4 Penydarren 2 Parc Brychan, Penydarren Penydarren 2 - top 20%

CF46 5HY 1 Treharris 4 Glan Y Afon, Treharris - should be FS treharris 4 - Top 30% 

220  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 
Outreach Model         Appendix E  
 
 
Since 2012, Local Authorities have been expected to engage with families outside of the 
identified LSOAs on an outreach basis and the target for outreach in Merthyr is 16 children, 
the programme is currently supporting 16 children through outreach.  
 
To date, the outreach approach locally has been to continue to provide Flying Start services 
to vulnerable families who move outside of a Flying Start eligible area but remain within the 
County Borough. These families are usually identified by the Health Visitor.  
 
It is important that there is a clear rationale when agreeing outreach children and where 
appropriate, an assessment tool/ criteria is used to inform decisions on the children that are 
prioritised for support.  

 It will be important that outreach is focussed on earlier intervention with families referred as 
early as possible, the focus will be on the antenatal – 2 years period whilst also recognising 
that children can access up to 47 months. Emphasis will be given to first time parents 
recognising that this is an important transition for families where early support could have 
the most impact.  

Utilise health based assessments to identify outreach families  
 
Heath Visitors currently use two different tools  to asses needs one of which is a FRAIT tool 
and assess family resilience. In addition Health Visiting in Merthyr Tydfil is currently rolling 
out an additional assessment ‘ Levels of Care’. It is proposed that these tools will be used 
to identify those families who would most benefit from outreach.  However, further work will 
be undertaken to agree thresholds and levels of need in line with the available outreach 
capacity.  
 
It is proposed that up to 116 additional outreach children could be included in the 
programme using the needs led approach which overtime  will be scaled down to reflect the 
scaling up of the universal  access and eligibility to Flying Start.  
 
This will not equate to 116 annually as children can remain in the programme for up to 4 
years.   
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36


	Agenda
	3 Scrutiny Work Programme 2022/23
	5 Summer of Fun
	6 Flying Start Expansion & Achieving existing Welsh  Government (WG) expectation on numbers

